

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied  
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

---

---

# ONE HUNDRED AND FIRST LEGISLATURE

---

---

Legislative Document

No. 166

H. P. 122

House of Representatives, January 10, 1963

Referred to the Committee on Municipal Affairs, sent up for concurrence and ordered printed.

HARVEY R. PEASE, Clerk

Presented by Mr. Cartier of Biddeford.

---

---

## STATE OF MAINE

IN THE YEAR OF OUR LORD NINETEEN HUNDRED  
SIXTY-THREE

---

---

### AN ACT Relating to Elections in the City of Biddeford.

---

---

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine, as follows:

**Sec. 1. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 1, amended.** Section 1 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as amended, is further amended to read as follows:

**Sec. 1. Nominations by caucus; caucus petitions.** Any and all candidates for nomination by any and all political parties, ~~or under section 32 of chapter 7 of the Revised Statutes which desire to nominate candidates for the Biddeford municipal election by caucus meetings of the voters enrolled as qualified to vote in such caucus as hereinafter provided,~~ for elective office in the City of Biddeford, for any of the following offices: Mayor, Councilman, member of the School Board, Police Commissioner, Warden or **Ward** Clerk, shall present to the City Clerk at least 2 weeks before the date of the caucus a **caucus** petition requesting their names to be so placed on the **caucus** ballot ~~and only such petitions and nominations as hereinbefore referred to shall be placed on the final ballot~~ The City Clerk is hereby prohibited from receiving said **caucus** petitions ~~or nominations~~ within 2 weeks from the date of the caucus ~~and of the placing on the final ballot any candidate for either of the above offices,~~ and said City Clerk is further prohibited from allowing any substitution of candidates on any **caucus** petition ~~or nomination paper~~ unless said substitution is agreed to in writing by all the signers of said **caucus** petition ~~or nomination paper~~. Candidates for the following offices shall present a **caucus** petition of at least the following number of names of enrolled members of the political party requesting such nomination: For Mayor, member of the School Board or Police Commissioner, 125; for Councilman, 50; for Warden or **Ward** Clerk, 25. **Nothing contained herein shall**

be construed to invalidate or otherwise limit the rights and privileges granted to the inhabitants of the City of Biddeford by section 60-A of chapter 90-A of the Revised Statutes of 1954. Such caucus petitions may contain as many separate papers as necessary. It must contain the name of only one candidate, his place of residence, the office sought, the name of his party, the electoral division for which the nomination is proposed, and the date of the caucus. The candidate seeking the nomination must file with the caucus petition a written consent stating that he will accept the nomination. Such consent may be made a part of the caucus petition. A signer of a caucus petition or the person who circulates it shall certify his belief that the signatures on it are genuine, that the signers are members of the party named in it, and that they are residents of the electoral division for which the nomination is proposed. The person who so certifies a caucus petition must do so by making oath to the above statements on the petition or on a certificate attached to it and such certification shall be filed with the caucus petition. A voter may sign only as many caucus petitions for each office as there are vacancies to be filled. In the event that a voter signs more caucus petitions than he is entitled to, his name shall not be counted by the City Clerk as a valid petitioner for any caucus candidate.'

Sec. 2. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 2, amended. The first 2 paragraphs of section 2 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as amended, are further amended to read as follows:

'Caucuses and meetings of any and all political parties as hereinbefore specified in the City of Biddeford held for the purpose of nominating candidates for whose election the charter of said City provides, and whose name shall be placed on the final ballot, shall be governed as specified in section 1 and the paragraph immediately following shall relate to any and all political parties and any and all nominations provided for by section 32 of chapter 7 of the Revised Statutes.

Only those voters enrolled as qualified to vote in such caucuses as hereinafter provided, shall participate therein; all nominations by caucus petition or as provided for under section 32 of chapter 7 of the Revised Statutes shall be voted upon at the next municipal election, and the caucus for such candidates by caucus petition or by said nomination papers shall be held in the several wards of the City on the ~~and~~ first Monday of December, in each year, on which day the polls will be opened at 1 o'clock in the afternoon and continue open to 8 o'clock in the evening, when they shall close. A caucus election is deemed to be a separate election for each party which takes part in it. Such caucus elections shall be called by the municipal officers in the same manner as the Biddeford municipal election is called. The duties and procedures relating to the proper conduct of such caucuses shall be the same as prescribed for general elections by chapter 3-A of the Revised Statutes of 1954, where applicable, and if not inconsistent with this chapter.'

Sec. 3. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 2, amended. The 4th paragraph of section 2 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as repealed and replaced by section 2 of chapter 118 of the public laws of 1933, is amended to read as follows:

'The City Clerk of said City shall, in season for such caucuses, prepare suitable ballots containing the names of all persons to be nominated at such caucus and of a distinguishing color for each political party. **The City Clerk shall cause the names of all such persons to be arranged alphabetically by surname on such caucus ballots.** Every person legally qualified to vote in such caucuses shall receive, upon application, at such caucuses, to the proper election officer, a ballot marked and designated by such distinguishing color as the ballot of that political party in which he is then enrolled and shall not be entitled to receive, nor shall such election officer deliver to him, any other ballot.'

**Sec. 4. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 2, amended.** The 10th, 11th, 12th and 13th sentences of the 5th paragraph of section 2 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as last amended by section 1 of chapter 107 of the private and special laws of 1961, are further amended to read as follows:

~~The~~ **In addition, the** warden shall further appoint persons to assist him in receiving, sorting and counting the ballots. Persons so appointed shall be deemed election clerks for that purpose. The appointment of these election clerks shall be made upon the recommendation of each of the mayoralty candidates or their respective committees. The warden shall appoint an equal number of recommendations from each of the candidates or their respective committees, **but in any case each and every mayoralty candidate shall be entitled to at least 2 such election clerks,** and such appointed election clerks shall be sworn to the faithful performance of their duties by an officer duly empowered to administer the oath.'

**Sec. 5. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 2-B, additional.** Chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as amended, is further amended by adding a new section 2-B to read as follows:

**'Sec. 2-B. Nomination by petition.** Any inhabitant of the City of Biddeford who exercises the rights and privileges granted to him by section 60-A of chapter 90-A of the Revised Statutes of 1954, may, at his option, first submit his nomination petition to the chairman of the Board of Registration for certification by such chairman that the signers thereon are legally qualified voters of the City of Biddeford and of the electoral division for which the nomination is proposed, and thereafter file his certified petition with the City Clerk as required by said section 60-A, or, he may submit his nomination petition directly to the City Clerk who shall forthwith certify that the signers thereon are legally qualified voters of the City of Biddeford and of the electoral division for which the nomination is proposed. If such person first submits his nomination petition to the chairman of the Board of Registration for certification, it shall not be necessary for the City Clerk to check the legal validity of the signers thereon, but the City Clerk shall comply with the certification of the chairman of the Board of Registration and place the name of the person in whose behalf the nomination petition is submitted upon the municipal election ballot. In the absence of the chairman of the Board of Registration for any reason, or upon his refusal to certify the signers on any nomination petition presented to him, any other member of said Board may thereupon perform the duties of the chairman as required by this section. Such nomination petition shall contain a number of certified signers equal to or greater than the number required for each office on caucus petitions as specified in section 1. If more than one person

for the same office shall file with the City Clerk a nomination petition bearing the same political designation, the City Clerk shall place on the municipal election ballot the name of the person who first filed such nomination petition. The signing of a caucus petition under section 1 does not prohibit a voter from signing a nomination petition.'

Sec. 6. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 2-C, additional. Chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as amended, is further amended by adding a new section 2-C, to read as follows:

'Sec. 2-C. Absentee voting. Absentee ballots may be cast at any caucus of any political party called under the provisions of this chapter. The provisions of chapter 3-A of the Revised Statutes of 1954 relating to absentee voting shall apply, where applicable, to voting by absentee ballot in any such caucus.'

Sec. 7. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 4, amended. The 2nd sentence of section 4 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, is amended to read as follows:

'And such door shall be shut while the voter is within the compartment, and no one shall be allowed therein with him, unless he calls for assistance in marking his ballot, and such assistance shall be so furnished according to the provisions of chapter 8 3-A of the Revised Statutes of ~~1939~~ 1954, and a guard rail shall be so constructed and placed that only such persons as are inside said rail can approach within 6 feet of the ballot boxes and of such voting shelves and compartments.'

Sec. 8. P. & S. L., 1933, c. 71, § 5, amended. The first paragraph of section 5 of chapter 71 of the private and special laws of 1933, as amended, is further amended to read as follows:

'Any political party in the City of Biddeford shall at the caucus called to nominate candidates for municipal officers elect its City Committee. The City Committees so elected shall hold office for a term of 2 years from the date of the election. The said City Committees shall consist of 11 members; 1 from each ward who shall be resident therein, and 4 members at large, who shall be resident in the City. Any vacancies occurring in the Committees shall be filled by the Committee, but if the Committeeman to be elected is a ward representative, he shall be a resident of that particular ward. Nominations for members of such Committees to be elected at any such caucus shall be made by filing with the City Clerk at least 2 weeks before the date of such caucus a petition requesting the name of any such candidate to be placed on the City Committee ballot. Such petition shall contain the name of the candidate, his place of residence, the name of the particular Committee seat sought, the name of his party, and the date of the caucus, and shall be signed by such candidate.'